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CERTIFIED MAIL
RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED

United States Nuclear
Regulatory Commission
Washington, D.C.- 20555

Attention: Mr. Victor Stello, Jr., Director
Office of Inspection and Enforcement

Subject: Washington Public Power Supply System
. Nuclear Project No. 2, Docket No. 50-397,
EA-80-20; WNP-2 RESPONSE TO CIVIL PENALTY

Reference: 1) Washington Public Power Supply System Nuclear Project No. 2,
Docket No. 50-397, CPPR-93, USNRC to R. L. Ferguson; AMENDED
NOTICE OF VIOLATION AND NOTICE OF PROPOSED IMPOSITION OF CIVIL
PENALTIES, dated November 6, 1980.

2) WPPSS Letter Number G02-80-153, N. 0. Strand to USNRC,
Washington Public Power Supply System Nuclear Project No. 2,
Docket No. 50-397, EA-80-20; NOTICE OF VIOLATION AND ADDITIONAL
INFORMATION - 10CFR50.54(f), dated July 17, 1980.

. Gentlemen:

The purpose of this letter, and its enclosure, is to respond to the referenced
amended Notice of Violation and Notice of Proposed Imposition of Civil Penalties.
Our reply, pursuant to 10CFR2.205, consists of this letter and our check in

the amount of $59,500.00 for full payment of the imposed civil penalties.

The WNP-2 Project has initiated a comprehensive evaluation and corrective action
program as a prerequisite to performing any additional safety related work.
Reference 2 describes the overall program concept. We believe the continuing
implementation of this program provides a high-level of assurance for full
compliance with our Construction Permit and Safety Analysis Report.
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IT additional information or clarification is required regarding this response,
p]ease call me directly.

Very truly yours,
,%%f?)?@ﬁazéﬁé;és
R.A.

Matlock
WNP-2 Program Director

————s e

RGM/RES/kd .
Enclosure: Check - $59,500.00

cc: RH Engelken, NRC . ) )
RC Will, Health Services Division, Olympia, WA
Hon. Slade Gorton, Office of the Attorney General, Olympia, WA
RC Barley, Utilities & Transportation Commission, Olympia, WA
ND Lewis, EFSEC, Olympia, WA
JR Lewis, BPA
RC Root, B&R, Site
"JJ Verderber, B&R, N.Y.
HR Canter, B&R, N.Y. )
WJ Bender, Houghton, Cluck, Coughlin & Riley
JB Knotts, Jr., Debevoisé & Liberman
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" U. S%'Nuclear Regulatory Commission Date .. 12-1-80

. {Department or Establishment and Bureau or Office) .
Washington, eC . 20555 . . .
* {Address) .

PAYER: . “
Washington Public Power Supply System

P.O. BOX 968 This bill should be returned by the |

Richland, Washington 99352 : ‘ payer with his remittance. |

ot . SEE INSTRUCTIONS BELOW. |

. - —er - - - -
Date DESCRIPTION ] Quantity Cots{n“ Pnc;cr Amount

12-1-80 Full payment of civil penalty in ' :
connection with EA-80-20 dated Novemberj 6, 1980. m $59,500./00

«
- *

_AMOUNT DUE THIS BILL, 1$59,500100

This is not a receipt

.

INSTRUCTIONS
Tender of payment of the above bill may be made in cash, United States postil money order, express money order, bank draft, or check,

to the office indicated. Such tender, when in any other form than cash, should bé drawn to the order of the Department or Establishment
and Bureau or Office indicated above.

Receipts will be issued in all cases where “cash” is received, and only upon request when remitiance is in any other form. If tender
of pavment of this bill is other than cash or United States postal money ‘order, the receipt shall not become an acquittance uniil such

tender has been cleared and the amount received by the Department or Establishment and Bureau or Office indicated above, . .
_ Failure to receive a receipt for a cash payment should be promptly reported by the payer to the chief administrative officer of the
burcau or agency mentioned above. . .
- L] > -

* U, S, GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE: 25U O - 832280
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WASHINGTON PUBLIC POWER

- SUPPLY SYSTEM
P. 0. BOX 968

RICHLAND, WASHINGTON 99352

.WwARRANT N2 091695 %

November 26, 1980

. KENNEWICK BRANCH ’ ' g oy
RAINIER NATIONAL BANK " e X
KENNEWICK, WASHINGTON e o
PAY . R . WASHINGT?NY PUBLFIC POWER SUPPLY SYSTEM
e o Treasgrer, United States of America A T é‘&“é&'i*:’&ﬁp"'“ N
QRDER e C/0 Victor Stello, Jr., Director - \:gzgjga‘\§ﬁﬁgﬂnuf
o Office of Inspection and Enforcement N ,ffi"‘)ﬁ%;3>iziiaﬁl
Nuclear Regulatory Commission T O NN W LT TTTTEFELE NN
\ Washington, D.C. 20555 i , -
1Lidsim0 L 712 "0 800070 70w
FOUR INVOICE NO Docket No. 50-397 EA-80-20 AMOUNT: s__59.500.00
DESCRIPTION: : . _
’ : Notice Under Site Construction

" Permit No. CPPR-93, WPPSS Nuclear Pr
via ‘Letter No. EA-80-20 :
November 6, 1980

PLEA’SE DETAGCH THIS STATEMENT

BEFORE DEPOSITING CHECK "

Payment of Imposed Civil Penalties re
oject No. 2, Docket No. 50-397

ns 11/26/80

WASHINGTON PUBLIC POWER
SUPPLY SYSTEM

P. 0. 3OX 948

RICHLAND, WASHINGTON 99352
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. IE_DISTRIBUTICN FOR
NOTICE_OF OR RESPOSE T
CIVIL PENA
j IE FILES -
LPDR §§§ by S8
NSIC 223 = ;%:
SO TIDC 5 0~ 75
\ CENTRAL FILES | T8 =
NRR (OPERATING REACTORS)
| OR

NVSS (MATERIALS)

IF 2,790 MATERIA

IE FILES

CENTRAL FILES
NRR (OPERATING REACTORS)

R
NVSS (MATERIALS) .

FOR CHANGES, PLEASE CONTACT ELAINE SCHALL,” 49-27293,

10/24/80
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